IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2007-CC-433

MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

VS.

JOHN JOHNSON, II And GREENVILLE PUBLIC SCHOOLS

DEFENDANT/APPELLEES

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT, MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY (F/K/A MISSISSIPPI EMPLOYMENT SECURITY COMMISSION)

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF WASHINGTON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. CI2006-221

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

LeAnne F. Brady, Esq.
Senior Attorney
Mississippi Department of
Employment Security
MS Bar No.
Post Office Box 1699
Jackson, Mississippi 39215-1699
601-321-6073 Telephone
601-321-6076 Facsimile

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2007-CC-433

STATEMENT OF ISSUE

Whether the lower court's interpretation of the <u>Little</u> case is erroneous and the decision of the Board of Review affirming the Administrative Appeals Officer's decision dismissing the Claimant's appeal should be affirmed.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

John Johnson [also hereafter referred to as "Claimant"] was employed as an instructor at Greenville Public Schools [also hereafter referred to as "Employer"], in Greenville, Mississippi, ending June 13, 2006. (R. Vol. 2 p. 1). Mr. Johnson's contract with Greenville Public Schools was not renewed because he failed to perform his work up to the standards required by the employer. (R. Vol. 2 p. 5).

On July 6, 2006, Mr. Johnson filed for unemployment benefits. (R. Vol. 2 p. 1). An MDES interviewer investigated Mr. Johnson's separation by speaking with the Employer and the Claimant (R. Vol. 2 p. 3). During these conversations, the Employer stated that Mr. Johnson was not doing his job, and the school district elected not to renew his contract. (R. Vol. 3 p. 3). Mr. Johnson stated that he was told that his contract would not be renewed because he was not doing his job. (R. Vol. 2 p. 3). The claims examiner disqualified Mr. Johnson from receiving

unemployment benefits for misconduct connected with work. (R. Vol. 2 p. 5). On July 25, 2006, the Claimant filed an appeal and a telephonic hearing before the Administrative Appeals Officer¹ [hereafter referred to as "AAO"] was held on August 25, 2006. (R. Vol. 2 p. 6-7). Mr. Johnson failed to participate at the hearing. (R. Vol. 2 p. 9-10). Based upon the record, the AAO found the Claimant abandoned his appeal and therefore, the claims examiner's decision was followed. (R. Vol. 2 p. 9-10, RE p. 8-9). Specifically, the AAO's Findings of Fact and Opinion are as follows, to wit:

This case came on before the Administrative Appeals Officer on appeal by John D. Johnson, II (the claimant) for a telephone hearing scheduled for August 25, 2006, at 8:30 a.m.

The Appeals Tribunal Office mailed a Notice of Hearing to the interested parties on August 16, 2006.

After due notice was provided for the date, time, and place of the hearing, no one was available to participate. The claimant-appellant in this case has not given notice of any reason or cause for non-appearance.

The Mississippi Department of Employment Security Appeal Regulation 10 provides that a default ruling may be entered against the appellant for failing, without good cause, to appear at a hearing. Upon abandonment of a request for a hearing or appeal by the party who filed it, the Administrative Appeals Officer may dismiss the appeal or request for a hearing.

A party shall be deemed to have abandoned a request for a hearing if neither the party appealing nor his/her representative appears at the time and place fixed for the hearing and prior to the hearing such party does not show good cause why he/she or his/her representative cannot appear.

As of the date of this order, the appellant did not appear or show cause for non-appearance. The Administrative Appeals Officer, having determined that the appeal has been abandoned, hereby DISMISSES the appeal.

(R. Vol. 2 p. 9, RE p. 8).

¹ MDES has formally changed the name of the Administrative Appeals Officers to "Administrative Law Judge," or "ALJ." However, at the time of this hearing, the ALJ's were still referred to as "Administrative Appeals Officers," or "AAO's."

The Claimant appealed to the Board of Review and after careful review and consideration, the Board of Review affirmed and adopted the AAO's Findings of Fact and Opinion. (R. Vol. 2 p. 11-13, RE p. 7). Aggrieved, the Claimant perfected his appeal of the Board's decision to the Circuit Court of Washington County on October 6, 2006. (R. Vol. 1 p. 8, RE p. 6).

On January 22, 2007, the Honorable Margaret Carey-McCray, entered an order overruling the decision of the AAO dismissing the Claimant's appeal and awarded benefits to Mr. Johnson. (R. Vol. 1 p. 6, RE p. 1-5).² Judge Carey-McCray cites to Little v. Miss. Emp. Sec. Comm'n and Kentucky Fried Chicken, 754 So. 2d 1258 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999), as the basis for her opinion. (R. Vol. 2 p. 6, RE p. 1-5). In her order, Judge Carey-McCray found that the employer had the burden of proof, and therefore the employee was not required to offer rebuttal evidence or an explanation. (R. Vol. 2 p. 5, RE p. 1-5). Judge Carey-McCray ruled that requiring the employee to offer evidence to rebut the employer's allegation of misconduct, was an improper shifting of the burden of proof, and therefore Mr. Johnson should be awarded benefits. (R. Vol. 1 p. 5-6, RE p. 1-5).

Aggrieved by this decision, the Mississippi Department of Employment Security filed its appeal to this Honorable Court on February 13, 2007. (R. Vol. 1 p. 38).

SUMMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The lower court's reliance on the holding in <u>Little v. Miss. Emp. Sec. Comm'n and Kentucky Fried Chicken</u>, 754 So. 2d 1258 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999), is erroneous in that <u>Little</u> is factually different from the case at bar. In the present case, the Claimant did not participate in the hearing before the AAO, even though he filed the appeal. The notice of hearing received by

² The parties did not file briefs in this matter in the lower court. It appears from the record that the Claimant, Mr. Johnson, did send a letter to the court, which was filed on Nov. 13, 2006, (See R. Vol. 1 p. 11); however, the Appellant MDES never received a copy of this letter. MDES was not aware of this letter until it received a copy of the record for this appeal, and does not know if the lower court considered this as Mr. Johnson's brief.

the Claimant clearly states that it was his responsibility to notify MDES with his contact information on the day of the hearing. On the day of the hearing, the Claimant had not provided his contact information and the AAO was forced to dismiss the appeal. This decision was affirmed by the Board of Review.

In <u>Little</u>, it was the employer who failed to participate and offer evidence that the claimant committed disqualifying misconduct. The employee filed the appeal and was present to give testimony. In the present case, no one participated in the hearing; therefore, the AAO dismissed the appeal and the Department followed the decision of the claims examiner. MDES asserts that the claimant abandoned his request for an appeal and this Honorable Court should affirm the decision of the Board of Review.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. Standard of Review

The provisions of Section 71-5-531, Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972 (Revised 2000), govern this appeal. That section provides that the Circuit Court will consider the record made before the Board of Review of the Mississippi Department of Employment Security, and absent fraud, will accept the Findings of Fact if supported by substantial evidence. Richardson v. Mississippi Employment Security Commission, 593 So. 2d 31 (Miss. 1992); Barnett v. Mississippi Employment Security Commission, 583 So. 2d 193 (Miss. 1991); Wheeler v. Arriola, 408 So. 2d 1381 (Miss. 1982).

In <u>Barnett</u>, the Mississippi Supreme Court stated that:

{J}udicial review, under Miss Code Ann. Section 71-5-531 (1972), is in most circumstances, limited to questions of law, to-wit:

In any judicial proceedings under this section, the findings of the board of review as to the facts, if supported by substantial evidence and in the absence of fraud, shall be conclusive, and the jurisdiction of said shall be confined to questions of law.

Barnett, 583 So. 2d at 195. Furthermore, if the Board's findings are supported by substantial evidence and the relevant law was properly applied, then the reviewing court must affirm. <u>Id.</u>

II. The lower Court erred in its interpretation of the <u>Little</u> case and the decision of the Board of Review affirming the AAO's decision dismissing the Claimant's appeal should be affirmed.

On July 20, 2007, the Claims Examiner determined that the Claimant was disqualified from receiving unemployment benefits because he committed misconduct connected with work, specifically the claimant was not performing to the standards the employer required. (R. Vol. 2 p. 5). The Claimant appealed this decision, and a hearing was set before an AAO. (R. Vol. 2 p. 5). Notice of the hearing was mailed on August 16, 2006. (R. Vol. 2 p. 7). The notice states in bold letters that the Claimant must promptly notify MDES of his contact information for the day of the hearing by using a toll-free number. (R. Vol. 2 p. 7).

The AAO dismissed the appeal because Mr. Johnson failed to appear, which means that he did not call the toll-free number and provide his contact information.

MDES Appeal Regulation D 10 states as follows:

A party shall be deemed to have abandoned a request for a hearing if neither the party appealing nor his/her representative appears at the time and place fixed for the hearing and prior to the hearing such party does not show good cause why he/she or his/her representative cannot appear.

Mr. Johnson filed the appeal; therefore, he was the aggrieved party. Under MDES Appeal Regulation 10, it was his duty to participate in the hearing. Since he did not participate, the appeal was dismissed, and the decision of the claims examiner was followed. This was proper under the law and the lower court's reliance on the <u>Little</u> case in erroneous and factually different from the case *sub judice*.

In <u>Little</u>, the employee filed the appeal from the decision of the claims examiner. <u>Little</u>, So. 2d at 1258 (¶4). At the hearing, the employer failed to appear or to communicate its intent to participate. <u>Id</u>. The employee was present for the hearing and responded to questions by the AAO. <u>Id</u>. The AAO affirmed the decision of the claims examiner, and this action was affirmed by the Board of Review, as well as the circuit court. <u>Id</u>.

On appeal before this Honorable Court, this decision was reversed, holding the following:

In the absence of evidence of misconduct established by KFC, Little was not required to offer rebuttal evidence or an explanation. The requirement by the referee that Little offer evidence to rebut KFC's allegation of misconduct, when no evidence of misconduct had been offered, was an improper shifting of the burden of proof.

<u>Id.</u> at 1260 (¶11).

The facts from <u>Little</u> are distinguishable from the present case. In <u>Little</u>, the employee participated in the hearing. In this case, neither the claimant nor the employer participated. While the claimant did not have the burden of proof, he filed the appeal and therefore, had a duty to appear. The purpose of the holding in <u>Little</u>, was to protect a participating claimant from having to rebut a claim of misconduct, when no evidence had been submitted by the employer. Furthermore, in this case, no testimony was taken and no evidence was considered, therefore the question of the burden of proof was never before the AAO. The AAO simply dismissed the appeal, and therefore, the Department followed the decision of the claims examiner.

In Mr. Johnson's circumstance, neither party appeared to give evidence. Under MDES Reg. 10, MDES has the authority to dismiss an appeal, when the appellant has failed to participate. This is a common principle under the law. Under Rule 41 of the

Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, the clerk of the court may dismiss an action for want of prosecution because the plaintiff has failed to pursue the case diligently toward completion. Even this Honorable Court has a dismissal procedure in place when a party fails to properly prosecute an appeal. Under Rule 2(a)(2) of the Rules of Appellate Procedure, "an appeal may be dismissed upon motion of a party or on motion of the appropriate appellate court when the court determines that there is an obvious failure to prosecute an appeal."

MDES asserts that the <u>Little</u> case only applies to those situations in which one party to the appeal appears and the other party fails to participate. This was not the circumstance in the case at bar. Mr. Johnson failed to participate in a hearing he requested and the AAO's dismissal was proper under the law. Therefore, the Appellant, MDES, respectfully requests that this Court reverse the decision of the lower court and affirm the decision of the Board of Review.

CONCLUSION

The lower court's interpretation and application of <u>Little</u> was improper. The decision of the Board of Review affirming the dismissal of Mr. Johnson's appeal should be affirmed.