IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COPY **CAUSE NO. 2007-CC-433**



MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF **EMPLOYMENT SECURITY**

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT
SEP 2 4 200?

VS.

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

JOHN D. JOHNSON II **And GREENVILLE PUBLIC SCHOOLS** **DEFENDANT/APPELLEES**

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT, MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY

APPEAL FROM JOHN D. JOHNSON II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2007-CC-433

MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

VS.

JOHN D. JOHNSON II
And GREENVILLE PUBLIC SCHOOLS

DEFENDANT/APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTRESTED PARTIES

STATEMENT OF ISSUE

Whether the lower court's interpretation of the <u>Little</u> case is erroneous and the decision of the Board of Review affirming the Administrative Appeals Officer's decision dismissing the Claimant's appeal should not be affirmed.

STATEMENT OF CASE

I, John D. Johnson II [also hereafter referred to as "Claimant"] was employed as an Auto Body Repair instructor at Greenville Public Schools [also hereafter referred to as "Employer"], in Greenville, Mississippi, from 4 January 99, and ending 16 June 06, My contract with Greenville Public Schools was not renewed because the alleged failure to perform my work up to the standards required by the employer.

On 6 July 06, I filed for unemployment benefits. An MDES interviewer investigated my separation by speaking with the Employer and the Claimant. During these conversations, the Employer stated that I was not doing my job, and the school district elected not to renew my contract. The claims examiner disqualified me from receiving unemployment

benefits for misconduct with work. On 25 July 06, I filed an appeal and a telephonic hearing before the Administrative Appeals Officer [hereafter referred to as "AAO"] was held on 25 August 06. I failed to participate at the hearing. Based upon the record, the AAO found that I abandoned my appeal and therefore, the claims examiner's decision was followed, as to wit:

This case came on before the Administrative Appeals Officer on appeal by John D. Johnson, II (the claimant) for a telephone hearing scheduled for 25 August 06, at 8:30 a.m.

The Appeals Tribunal Officer mailed a Notice of Hearing to the interested parties on 16 August 06.

After due notice was provided for the date, time, and place of the hearing, no one was available to participate. The claimant-appellant in this case has not given notice of any reason or cause for non-appearance.

The Mississippi Department of Employment Security Appeal Regulation 10 provides that a default ruling may be entered against the appellant for failing, without good cause, to appear at a hearing. Upon abandonment of a request for a hearing or appeal by the party who filed it, the Administrative Appeals Officer may dismiss the appeal or request for a hearing.

A party shall be deemed to have abandoned a request for a hearing if neither the party appealing nor his/her representatives appears at the time and place fixed for the hearing and prior to the hearing such party does not show good cause why he/she or his/her representative cannot appear.

As of the date of this order, the appellant did not appear or show cause for non-appearance. The Administrative Appeals Officer, having determined that the appeal has been abandoned, hereby DISMISSES the appeal.

I appealed to the Board of review and after careful review and consideration; the Board of Review affirmed and adopted the AAO's Findings of Fact and Opinion. Aggrieved, I perfected my appeal of the Board's decision to the Circuit Court of Washington County on 6 October 06. On 22 January 07, the Honorable Margaret Carey-McCray, entered an order overruling the decision of the AAO dismissing the Claimant's appeal and awarded benefits to

me. The Honorable Judge Carey-McCray cites to Little v. Miss. Emp. Sec. Comm'n and Kentucky Fried Chicken. 754 So. 2d 1258 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999), as the basis for her opinion. In her order, Judge Carey-McCray found that the employer had the burden of proof, and therefore the employee was not required to offer rebuttal evidence or an explanation. Judge Carey-McCray ruled that requiring the employee to offer evidence to rebut the employer's allegation of misconduct, was an improper shifting of the burden of proof, and therefore I should be awarded benefits. Aggrieved by this decision, the Mississippi Department of Employment Security filed its appeal to this Honorable Court on 13 February 07.

SUMMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I informed a representative at the Employment Agency that my new rural mail deliverer placed my mail as well as a few of my neighbor's mail in the wrong boxes. When I got my mail and read the letter, I did not have time to submit a phone number in advance. I had hoped the number listed on the appeal letter would have been used, but I never received a call. True the Appeals Officer had the right to dismiss the case but the officer also could have requested for a hearing since neither myself or the Greenville Public School representative were present for the hearing.

ARGUMENT

I was wrongfully dismissed from my job, which had nothing to do with my performance. When I got the job in 1999, the Auto Body Repair program was in the delete status. This means that the program was about to be closed. As of 13 June 06, the program was listed in the top five (5) out of the twenty-four (24) programs in the state. In 2002 – 2003 and 2004 – 2005, I was

awarded by the Greenville Public Schools for "Exceeding Expectation" in my job performance. I was selected by Mississippi State's Curriculum Research and Development Department four (4) times as an advisor for the States Auto Body Repair curriculum and my name is on the curriculum that is currently being used this day throughout the state. I had one of the highest percentages in the school of having students passing the state exam that is required for all second year students. My name and picture was used for the entire 2006- 2007 school year as a recruitment tool.

CONCLUSION

I was denied a hearing with the school district and denied a hearing with MDES. I have gone through the Employment Agency/WIN Job center to try to find work but have not been able to find employment of any kind. I have also sought jobs in other areas but have not been successful. The benefits were to be \$200 a week, which would at least buy food for my family. I have been pursuing this claim for over a year. The money that I was to receive is far less than the money and time the state is spending to deny me employment insurance benefits. I did everything that was required of me. I know that there are conditions that would change how rules and regulations are applied in each case. That is why you have the appeal process. I contested the decision and the appeal was ruled in my favor. I am not a lawyer and do not pretend to be, but I am an excellent auto body instructor who would not succumb to a supervisor who does not display up most professional behavior, in which I sought help from another federal agency for resolution. I ask that you allow me to receive my benefits because my former employer did not present any evidence that I did not perform my job according to the states